



Northern Queensland Primary Health Network

General Practice Quality Improvement

The Bowel Screening CQI Toolkit

A practical guide to improve participation in bowel screening as a CQI activity and for PIP QI and CPD purposes.



Acknowledgement

This document was developed based on the *General Practice Quality Improvement Toolkit*— *The Bowel Screening Toolkit* created by Gold Coast Primary Health Network. Northern Queensland Primary Health Network (NQPHN) gratefully acknowledges their work and the valuable foundation it provided in shaping this resource. Approval to adapt and recreate the content from the original toolkit was sought and granted by Gold Coast Primary Health Network, and their contribution is duly recognised and appreciated.

Disclaimer

While the Australian Government Department of Health has contributed to the funding of this material, the information contained in it does not necessarily reflect the views of the Australian Government and is not advice that is provided, or information that is endorsed, by the Australian Government. The Australian Government is not responsible in negligence or otherwise for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use of or reliance on the information provided herein.

The information in this toolkit does not constitute medical advice and NQPHN accepts no responsibility for the way in which information in this toolkit is interpreted or used. Unless otherwise indicated, material in this booklet is owned by NQPHN. You are free to copy and communicate the work in its current form, as long as you attribute NQPHN as the source of the copyright material.

Due to constant developments in research and health guidelines, the information in this document will need to be updated regularly. Please contact NQPHN if you have any feedback regarding the content of this document.

Copyright 2025. North Queensland Primary Healthcare Network Limited (ABN 35 605 757 640), trading as Northern Queensland Primary Health Network (NQPHN).



NQPHN acknowledges the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as Australia's First Nation Peoples and the Traditional Custodians of this land. We respect their continued connection to land and sea, country, kin, and community. We also pay our respect to their Elders past, present, and emerging as the custodians of knowledge and lore.



Contents

- 4 About The Bowel Screening CQI toolkit
- 4 Benefits of using the Toolkit
- 4 How to use the Toolkit
- 4 Aim of the Toolkit
- 5 Step 1: Planing and preparation
- 7 Step 2: Use data to set goals and identify suitable patients
- **9** Step 3: Implement improvement actions
- 11 Step 4: Regularly review your CQI activity
- 12 Step 5: Sustain and maintain improvements
- 13 Step 6: Document your CQI activity
- **14** Additional support and information
- **15** Appendix

The Bowel Screening CQI toolkit

About

Bowel Screening continuous quality improvement (CQI) activities aim to reduce morbidity and mortality by increasing participation of eligible patients in cancer screening programs.

Cancer screening is a cost-effective and valuable population health intervention. However, its full benefits are constrained because of relatively low patient participation rates. Almost 2.5 million of the 5.7 million (44%) people aged 50-74 who were invited to bowel screen in 2018-19 participated (AIHW, 2021). Participation was higher among women (42.8% of all women invited) than men (38.9%). Participation rates in the NQPHN region stand at 35% (AIHW, 2021), which is below the national average (40.9%) and the Queensland average (37.5%).

This Toolkit provides a practical guide for general practice teams. It describes how to successfully increase bowel screening in a practice as a CQI activity, and for Practice Incentives Program (PIP) Quality Improvement (QI) and continuing professional development (CPD) purposes. It provides educational and CQI resources, guides, and templates to support increased patient participation in bowel screening.

Benefits of using the Toolkit

The toolkit provides a step-by-step approach to:

- > make the best use of practice data to identify patients who are due or overdue for bowel screening
- > successfully implement bowel screening as a CQI activity
- > document the increase of bowel screening participation implementation as a CQI activity
- > make measurable and sustainable improvements in a feasible manner to patient care
- > increase knowledge of CQI principles and practical application.

How to use the Toolkit

There are six steps to implement bowel screening as a CQI activity.

- > Step 1: Planning and preparation
- > Step 2: Use data to set goals and identify suitable patient
- > Step 3: Implement improvement actions
- > Step 4: Regularly review your CQI activity
- > Step 5: Sustain and maintain improvements
- > Step 6: Document your CQI activity

Aim of the Toolkit

To provide a simple and practical guide for general practices to increase bowel screening participation as a CQI activity.

Step 1: Planning and preparation

1.1 Team meetings

- > To meet PIP QI requirements, you must demonstrate that you have undertaken your CQI activity as a team.
- > It is important at the beginning of the CQI activity to arrange a practice meeting to agree, plan and prepare for its implementation. If it is not be possible to have the whole team meet, each staff group should be represented. As a minimum, this would include a general practitioner (GP), the practice manager, a member of the administrative team, and a practice nurse. In smaller practices, the same individual may have more than one role.
- > You should continue to meet regularly to plan and review your CQI activities. It is especially important to meet at the conclusion of the activity and finalise the documentation.
- > Meetings can be virtual or in person and can be scheduled at any time that suits the team (i.e. during or outside normal working hours).
- > Practical considerations for your meetings:
 - You could add CQI as a standing agenda item on your usual team meetings; or you could set up specific meetings for this purpose.
 - Schedule meetings with advance notice to ensure key team members can attend.
 - Examples of practice meetings and templates are available online.
 - Ensure that you have access to Primary Sense or other practice data during meetings to inform your discussions and to support your planning and review of your CQI activity.
 - Consider using an action plan example during meetings to help guide the discussion and to document your plan, progress, and learning. There is also a guide to assist completing this.



Regular meetings help to maintain momentum and keep the team on track to successfully complete the CQI activity.

1.2 Agree on CQI roles and responsibilities

- > It is important to define and delegate specific roles and responsibilities in the team. Potential roles or different team members are included as an Appendix.
- > Consider in your team who has the skills and ability to complete each task. You could ask staff to gauge their confidence out of 10 to complete an allocated task- this can help identify learning needs.
- > Ensure all team members have access to the Primary Sense data tool allow prompts for care action items.
- > Identify and meet the training and education requirements of team members to fulfil their CQI role.
- Remember to share your CQI plan (template) with the whole practice team to ensure that everyone is aware of the activity and their roles and responsibilities.



Training resources for **Primary Sense** are available online.

1.3 Set realistic timelines

- > It is important to specify the specific CQI steps and estimate how long each one will take to complete. It is also important to agree dates in advance, when progress will be reviewed.
- > Allow some flexibility with the timelines and expect and plan for delays. Some of the factors to consider when you set your timelines include:
 - Where you are in the cycle of accreditation.
 - Staff leave and capacity.
 - Seasonal priorities and anticipated workload (i.e. the winter period tends to be particularly busy).



Internal factors you control

Develop a calendar of known periods of specific activity to align with CQI focus to support proactive planning. For example: Bowel Cancer Awareness Month, Women's Health Week, and Men's Health Week.

External factors and factors outside your control

Ensure disaster management plans and business continuity plans are up to date and all staff are aware of their roles and responsibilities.

Step 2: Use data to set goals and identify suitable patients

- 2.1 Current performance and future goals
- > Ask the following questions to assess current and future performance using your practice data:
 - What is the current level of performance in the practice?
 - If there is an opportunity to improve performance? If so, by how much? Express your goal or target as a number or percentage.
 - Is your target realistic? It is seldom possible to achieve 100% performance; most practice teams can achieve a 25% to 50% improvement in performance or reduce the gap between their current and desired performance by 25% to 50% with concerted effort.
 - How long will it take to achieve this goal?
- > A CQI activity is simply a structured, focused, and coordinated attempt to close the quality gap between your current, baseline performance and a desired outcome or level of performance in the future.
- > Practice teams that set SMART goals are more likely to be successful. The acronym SMART describes some of the desired characteristics of a goal: specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and timed.
- > Two examples are provided below to illustrate the difference between SMART and non-SMART goals.



SMART goal example

Practice A decides to increase the participation rates of eligible patients for bowel screening from 40% (current performance) to 50% (goal) over a 12-week period. They calculate that they will need to screen 50 patients to achieve their goal. They will achieve this goal by screening five patients a week. This provides them with a small buffer of time. They also agree to review their progress every four weeks.



Non-SMART goal example

Practice B decides to increase the participation rates of eligible patients for bowel screening. They agree that their GPs and practice nurse will identify patients during their routine work and see how they go in a few weeks.

2.2 Data extraction and analysis tool (Primary Sense)

- > <u>Primary Sense</u> is currently the data tool that is provided free of charge by NQPHN for practices across our region. Primary Sense can also support cervical screening CQI activities in the practice.
- > Using a data extraction and analysis tool helps you to use your practice data in a meaningful manner. The main applications of data tools in CQI activities are to:
 - Establish your performance baseline.
 - Identify specific groups of patients also referred to as samples of patients who may benefit from being included in a CQI. The best data tools have the capability to generate lists with the names and information of all the patients in your sample.

- Track your progress towards your goal over the course of the CQI activity.
- Compare your performance with the performance of your peers (optional).
- Establish your performance baseline.
- > The quality of your practice data, and whether the data is used to inform improvement, are more important considerations than which tool you use.
- > Baseline data is your current performance, baseline data for QI activities can be obtained from multiple sources, including:
 - data analytic tools (e.g., Primary Sense)
 - clinical information systems using the "search" function/patient registers
 - external data sources (e.g., pathology companies, National Cancer Screening Register).



Collecting, analysing, and sharing aggregated practice data are PIP QI requirements.

2.3 Select a sample of patients

- > Primary Sense will provide you with an overview of your practice performance and the characteristics of your practice population. It also enables you to select and focus on a specific group or sample of patients.
- > It is important to direct your improvement efforts at those patients who are most likely to benefit from them. The next step is therefore to identify a suitable group (sample) of patients eligible for bowel screening. Potential patient groups could be:
 - Patients aged 49-50 years who are entering NBCSP.
 - Patients aged 72-74 years who are exiting NBCSP.
 - Patients overdue for bowel screening.
- > Feasible samples are typically between 50 and 100 patients. Larger and more ambitious practice teams may opt to increase the size of their sample further.
- > Selecting a suitable sample and picking the right sample size can be challenging decisions for many practice teams. Contact your NQPHN Primary Care Engagement team if you would like to discuss this further.
- > NQPHN developed prefilled templates, practical examples, and resources that explain how to use data tools to select samples of patients for a Bowel Screening CQI activity and provide examples of which patients may be particularly suitable for inclusion.



Choose one distinct area to start

Define bowel screening patient sample and have conversations regarding cervical and breast screen for eligible patients.

Step 3: Implement improvement actions

3.1. Agree specific improvement actions

- > It is important to set a SMART goal and identify a sample of patients. It is equally important to decide what improvement actions or interventions will be required to reach your goal. In other words, what is it that needs to be done for every patient in your sample?
- > Decide whether your CQI activity requires a single intervention or multiple interventions Your CQI activity focus:
 - Primary focus on Bowel Screening
 - Bowel Screening as well as opportunistic screening for Breast and Cervical Cancer (if eligible).
- > Consider patient engagement/experience and activation (communication and feedback). A practical example of this is to add questions to your accreditation survey and offer survey participation to the patients in the CQI sample.

Hot tip

A care bundle is a set or number of interventions that, when used together, synergistically improve patient outcomes.



Choose one distinct area to start

Define bowel screening patient sample and have conversations regarding cervical and breast screening for eligible patients.

3.2 Examples of improvement actions in a Bowel Screening CQI activity

The following list of potential improvement actions is not exhaustive or mandatory and are provided as examples. Every practice team should select their own improvement actions and decide which they would like to include:

- > using data to identify patients eligible for bowel screening
- > developing and promoting consumer information for bowel screening; you may consider posters in waiting rooms and the bathroom.
- > using your practice reminder system to 'flag' patients with missing or outstanding items of care. Whenever possible, reminders should also be added during patient appointments.

For Primary Sense users the following report may be relevant:

> Bowel and Breast Cancer Screening Report.

Data quality improvement

- > Consider implementing or reviewing current database management and cleaning processes to maintain your clinical software with an "active" database (RACGP reference 3 visits in 2 years) or using the active patient filter.
- > Contacting the <u>National Cancer Screening Register</u> (NCSR) via phone to access patient screening history.
- > Accessing the NCSR through the <u>Healthcare Provider Portal</u> to enable providers to access and submit bowel screening data electronically.
- > Access the <u>NCSR Hub through Medical Director</u> to view and manage patients screening history.
- > Correctly enter patients' bowel screening test results in clinical software (<u>Best Practice</u> and MedicalDirector).
- > Create a feasible sample of patients, typically between 50 and 100 patients. Creating manageable sample of patients initially allows you to create a business as usual process for bowel screening in the practice. For example, this could be created with the following target groups:
 - 49 year age group, entering the National Bowel Screening Program
 - 72–74 age group, exiting the National Bowel Screening Program.
- > Opportunistic conversations with eligible patients that present to GP/Practice Nurse for other health concerns.
- > Advise patients to include their regular GP on pathology request forms if they complete the test at home, and that results are normally available approximately two weeks after samples have been submitted.
- > Upload Shared Health Summaries to My Health Record when bowel screening results are received by the practice.
- > Review bowel screening status during over 75 Health Assessment to ensure exit screen has been completed.
- > Consider adding 'date of last bowel screening' to your new patient questionnaire, and recalls and reminders in the clinical software system.
- > Practice Nurses have a potential role in demonstrating to patients how to use a bowel screening test kit and answer any questions patient may have; some team members may require additional training to fulfill this role.
- > Consider implementing the alternative access to bowel screening kits model. This training guide covers key steps for practice staff and health professionals to implement and promote bowel cancer screening. Before you order or issue kits for the first time, both the person ordering kits AND the person issuing kits must read this short guide.

MBS items to support implementation:

- > GP Management Plan
- > GP Chronic condition management plans (MBS items 392, 393, 965, 967, 92029, 92030, 92060, 92061)
- > 45-49 year old health assessment
- > Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people's health assessment



GPs are required to make sure each patient meets the MBS criteria prior to claiming each item number.

Step 4: Regularly review your CQI activity

- > It is important to monitor your progress regularly.
- > During the planning and preparation step you would have identified the timelines and activity review points which should now be implemented.

Practical considerations:

- > Set the frequency of CQI progress reviews according to the timeline of your activity. For example, it would be reasonable to check the progress of a 6-month activity every 1-2 months, while a three month activity requires shorter intervals (weekly).
- > Use your practice data at each checkpoint (review) to determine your progress towards your goal. Remember to check that the data corresponds with the period being review. Some data extraction tools have a lag between current and past performance.
- > Identify the barriers or challenges (if any) to your progress during the reviews. Consider whether and what corrective actions to take.
- > The following questions may be helpful to work through during your CQI activity reviews:
 - Successes- what has worked well so far?
 - What were the challenges and barriers?
 - Were you able to overcome the challenges and barriers?
 - If not, what do you need to do next?
 - If you were able to overcome challenges or barriers, what did you learn, and how can you use that in future?
- > During the final review meeting, when you conclude your CQI activity, it is important to consider and document:
 - What worked well?
 - What could have worked better?
 - What were your learning points, learning needs and were learning needs met?
 - What changes did you make to your practice policies and procedures or systems because of this CQI activity (if any)?



Speak with NQPHN if you would like support to showcase your work and share with your North Queensland peers.

Step 5: Sustain and maintain improvements

- > Once performance has been improved, it usually requires regular reviews to maintain the gains.
- > It is therefore important to establish a reliable procedure to ensure your improved performance is sustained.
- > New processes that are developed need to be documented and communicated to the wider team to ensure ongoing implementation is achieved.
- > Agree the intervals at which you will review your performance relating to this activity, decide who will be responsible for the review, and the actions that will be taken if performance falls short of your new standard.
- > Consider potential topics for a new CQI activity, and how your experience with this activity can help you to be more efficient and effective e.g. Breast Screening, Cervical Screening.
- > Share your CQI activity, its successful outcomes and learning points with everyone in the practice team.



Setting time points to review progress is important to ensure you remain on track to reach your target.

Step 6: Document your CQI activity

- > Ensure you document your CQI activity to meet the PIP QI guidelines. Documentation is also a requirement for CPD purposes.
- > Documentation must be kept for six years for evidence of PIP QI.
- > It is especially important to document your baseline and improved performance, and list improvement actions and learning points.
- > If your CQI activity has resulted in changes to your policies and procedures, they can be included in the documentation as attachments and evidence for accreditation purposes.
- > There is no single 'right way' to document a CQI activity. The types of documents and templates we provide in this Toolkit are intended as examples. Practice teams can modify them to suit their own needs.
- > There are three main types of documents that are required for a CQI activity. The fourth type of document is desirable but not essential. All documents are 'living' in the sense that they can be updated throughout the CQI process.

The four document types are:

- 1. Documents about meetings. A CQI activity requires at least two team meetings one at the beginning and one at its conclusion. It is strongly recommended to also record your review meetings or 'check points'.
- 2. Documents about data. This type of documents could include reports from Primary Sense with aggregated performance data. It can also include lists of patient names that were sampled. These documents are not routinely shared and should be managed according to data privacy and governance procedures.
- 3. Documents about the CQI activity. NQPHN developed a QI action plan example that enables practice teams to document any CQI activity from beginning through to its conclusion. The template is suitable for PIP QI and CPD purposes.
- 4. Documents about practice policies and procedures. Practice policies and procedures- changes can be saved as evidence for PIP OI.



Consider how you would record results in your clinical software about the following scenarios:

- > Bowel Screening home test kit completed and samples sent to pathology
- > Patient did not receive home test kit in the mail
- > Patient declined bowel screening.

Additional support and information

PIP QI

- > For your Bowel Screening CQI activity to be suitable for PIP QI purposes, you must ensure that all the requirements have been met.
- > See details of the PIP QI requirements on NQPHN's webpage.
- > The NQPHN Primary Care Engagement team can provide virtual/face-to-face meetings or access to recorded webinars that will assist with your CQI activity:
 - resources or training on the use of data extraction tools to assist with identification of a patient sample
 - worked examples of CQI action plans to support implementation and meet PIP QI requirements
 - tips to support CQI implementation.

CPD

If general practitioners would like to be eligible for CPD points for participating in the health assessment CQI activity, further information can be found on RACGP and ACRRM webpages.

Email: pce@nqphn.com.au Phone: (07) 4034 0300

Bowel screening resources

- > National Bowel Cancer Screening Program.
- > Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention, early detection and management of Colorectal Cancer.

Other NQPHN CQI Toolkits

NQPHN has developed a range of toolkits which are available on the NQPHN website.

Your feedback

We would like to hear what you think to help inform the next edition of this QI Toolkit. We value your input so please share your ideas and suggestions by emailing NQPHN's Primary Care Engagement team at pce@nqphn.com.au

Appendix

Potential CQI roles and responsibilities of practice team members

General Practitioners

> Provide clinical oversight and governance of the activity.

Practice Nurses

- > Support the implementation of the activity.
- > Provide support to generate data reports.
- > Identify patients to provide opportunistic interventions.

Practice Manager

- > Maintain up to date patient registers.
- > Analyse practice data.
- > Identify and support implementation of training for the CQI and practice team.
- Establish and oversee recall/reminder systems.
- > Monitor progress against CQI activities.
- Review and update new systems to ensure sustainable change.
- > Document policy and procedures and support implementation across the team.

Reception staff

- > Order and maintain supplies of resources (e.g. patient information).
- > Add flags or clinician reminders for patients in the activity.
- > Support the practice team to identify patients eligible for relevant reminders and contact patients either via letter, text message, phone call, etc.

Medical and nursing students (if relevant)

> Consider tasks that medical or nursing students could implement during clinical placements to support your CQI activities.















